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FCPA Lessons for the Financial Services Industry from Morgan Stanley 

By Eileen Radford and Clint Long 

Through a complex scheme designed to avoid internal detection, Morgan Stanley 

employee, Garth Peterson, allegedly conspired with an executive of a Chinese state-owned 

enterprise and a Canadian attorney to purchase a stake in a Morgan Stanley real estate project 

through a shell company in the British Virgin Islands.  Through this transaction, which appeared 

legitimate and legal to Morgan Stanley, and Peterson’s concealment of its true nature, the 

Chinese executive acquired a personal interest that was allegedly worth nearly $3 million.  

Peterson allegedly wanted to reward the executive (with whom he had established a friendship) 

for helping Morgan Stanley acquire the real estate project, as well as obtain an investment of his 

own through the shell company.  In addition to this real estate scheme, Peterson allegedly 

funneled nearly $2 million from Morgan Stanley to the Chinese executive and himself through 

what appeared to be legitimate “finder’s fees” paid to a Chinese investor. 

As a result of these activities, Peterson pleaded guilty in 2012 to conspiring to circumvent 

Morgan Stanley’s internal accounting controls, which is a violation of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt 

Practices Act (“FCPA”), and was sentenced to nine months in prison.  Peterson also settled 

charges of fraud and FCPA violations (for evading internal controls and bribing a foreign 

official) with the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  In this settlement, Peterson 

agreed to disgorge over $3.8 million worth of real estate, profits, and interest resulting from the 

illegal transactions at the root of the SEC’s charges.  The settlement also stipulated that Peterson 

is permanently prohibited from working in the securities industry.  

But what is far more significant than Peterson’s guilty plea and settlement is the U.S. 

Government’s decision not to prosecute Morgan Stanley.  Morgan Stanley could have been 
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charged with FCPA violations as a result of Peterson’s behavior.  The U.S. Department of Justice 

(“DOJ”) and SEC frequently hold corporations liable for the FCPA violations of their executives 

and employees, even at times when the conduct was not directly approved.  However, neither 

agency chose to charge Morgan Stanley with FCPA violations.  The DOJ explained that it had 

declined to do so because Morgan Stanley voluntarily disclosed the FCPA violations, had an 

excellent anti-bribery training program, and performed “extensive due diligence on all new 

business partners and imposed stringent controls on payments made to business partners.”1  

Therefore, despite the fact that a rogue employee violated the law, Morgan Stanley, in the U.S. 

Government’s view, had done enough to prevent the violations from happening.  

The DOJ’s reasons for not charging Morgan Stanley are particularly informative for the 

financial services industry.  Morgan Stanley is not the only financial services provider that has 

been the subject of an FCPA investigation in recent years.  In fact, the financial services industry 

is currently receiving a large amount of FCPA enforcement attention.  There are currently at least 

12 companies in the financial services industry under investigation for alleged FCPA violations.  

This number includes the SEC’s investigation of approximately ten financial services banks and 

firms regarding their business relationships with foreign sovereign wealth funds.  In addition to 

this large investigation, Brookfield Asset Management and Barclays are both currently under 

investigation for potential FCPA violations.  

Overall, this trend means that banks and financial services firms should be aware of the 

heightened possibility of an FCPA inquiry or investigation by the SEC or DOJ, and be very 

cautious of an FCPA violation by an employee or third party.  However, as the Morgan Stanley 

                                                 
1 Press Release, Dep’t of Justice, Former Morgan Stanley Managing Director Pleads Guilty for Role in Evading 
Internal Controls Required by FCPA, (Apr. 25, 2012), available at http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/2012/April/12 
-crm-534.html. 
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case demonstrates, financial services providers can take measures to protect their companies 

from FCPA liability. 

The FCPA and the Financial Services Industry 

Before discussing the lessons that the financial services industry can learn from Morgan 

Stanley, it is important briefly to describe the FCPA.  The FCPA has two main provisions, 

commonly referred to as the “anti-bribery provisions” and the “books and records provisions.” 

The anti-bribery provisions prohibit corrupt payments of money or “anything of value” to a 

“foreign official” in order to “obtain or retain business.”2  A foreign official is broadly 

interpreted to include any employee of a foreign government or its instrumentalities (which 

includes state-owned entities).  The FCPA’s books and records provisions generally require 

issuers of securities in the United States to maintain accurate books and records and ensure that 

internal accounting controls are in place.3  

 In their enforcement of the FCPA, the DOJ and SEC tend to target companies from the 

same industry.  The financial services industry has received a significant amount of FCPA-

related attention from the U.S. Government since 2011.  As mentioned above, the SEC is 

investigating approximately ten banks and financial services firms for potential FCPA violations 

with regards to their interactions with sovereign wealth funds.  The SEC appears to be looking 

for payments of cash and other items of value to employees of sovereign wealth funds in Libya 

and possibly other countries as well.  If the DOJ and SEC consider employees of sovereign 

wealth funds to be government officials, which some believe they do,4 then any bribes paid to 

them would violate the FCPA.  

                                                 
2 Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1(a), 78dd-2(a), 78dd-3(a) (2013). 
3 Id. § 78m(b)(2)(A)–(B). 
4 Dionne Searcey & Randall Smith, SEC Probes Banks, Buyout Shops Over Dealings With Sovereign Funds, WALL 
ST. J., Jan. 14, 2011. 
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As mentioned above, two other financial services providers are also being investigated 

for potential FCPA violations independent of this large investigation.  Barclays stated in a 2012 

regulatory filing that the DOJ and SEC are investigating its third parties’ compliance with the 

FCPA, and media reports indicate that the DOJ is investigating allegations that Barclays paid 

bribes in Saudi Arabia to get a banking license there in 2009.  In 2013, news sources reported 

that the SEC is investigating Brookfield Asset Management over alleged improper payments in 

Brazil to acquire real estate permits.  These investigations show that the financial services 

industry is facing a greater level of FCPA scrutiny and can benefit from key FCPA compliance 

lessons. 

Morgan Stanley’s FCPA Lessons 

 The most notable of the recent FCPA cases involving the financial services industry is the 

Morgan Stanley case.  The company’s success in avoiding FCPA charges can teach important 

lessons to other financial services providers as they seek to avoid FCPA violations and liability.  

In the FCPA charges against Peterson, the DOJ commented extensively on the quality of Morgan 

Stanley’s training program and internal controls.5  Peterson was trained multiple times on the 

FCPA in a variety of formats: in person, by telephone, via the internet, and so forth.  Morgan 

Stanley’s program required certifications of FCPA compliance, provided materials on the FCPA, 

gave training specific to FCPA issues in China, offered a hotline for employees’ questions, and 

exhibited multiple other aspects of an effective program.   

Furthermore, Morgan Stanley’s internal controls were also exemplary: the company 

performed thorough due diligence on parties involved in its business transactions and had in 

place a detailed system of approvals that were required before payments were made.  Despite the 

                                                 
5 See Information at 5–11, U.S. v. Peterson (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (No. 12-224), available at  
http://www.justice.gov/criminal/fraud/fcpa/cases/petersong/petersong-information.pdf. 
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fact that Peterson ignored this training and circumvented these internal controls, Morgan Stanley 

was able to avoid liability because of these strong programs. 

In addition to these important characteristics of a compliance program, there are other 

FCPA lessons from the Morgan Stanley case that revolve around the following issues and 

vulnerabilities: payment mechanisms, foreign officials, and third parties.  

 Payment Mechanisms 

The FCPA’s anti-bribery provisions prohibit giving “anything of value” to foreign 

officials, which can include a direct payment of cash and far more complex schemes than a 

traditional briefcase full of money.  The FCPA’s books and records provisions prohibit falsifying 

or inaccurately recording transactions, which is often done when a bribe or other illegal payment 

is made.  Peterson violated both of these provisions through multiple payment mechanisms.  

According to the SEC’s Complaint, Peterson directly made a $700,000 payment to the 

Chinese executive from a finder’s fee given to a Chinese investor who had helped Morgan 

Stanley acquire a real estate investment.  The investor had given Peterson $1.6 million of the 

finder’s fee with the expectation of receiving more business from Morgan Stanley.  By this stage, 

the Chinese executive had retired from his position.  Despite the fact that the executive was no 

longer a foreign official at the time of the payment, this direct payment is an example of the type 

of traditional bribe that the FCPA prohibits.  Furthermore, this was one of the numerous 

allegations the SEC cited when charging Peterson with violating the FCPA’s books and records 

provisions, and he evaded internal controls in order to make the payment to the Chinese 

executive (and himself). 

Other parts of Garth Peterson’s scheme are excellent examples of the type of bribe that is 

far more complex than a direct payment of cash.  According to the DOJ’s charges, Morgan 
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Stanley believed that it was selling a portion of its real estate project to a state-owned Chinese 

entity, Shanghai Yonge Enterprise (“Yonge,” the employer of the Chinese executive).  Morgan 

Stanley had conducted a great deal of due diligence on Yonge and had previously made a 

legitimate payment to a bank account associated with Yonge in the British Virgin Islands.  

According to the allegations, Peterson, along with the Chinese executive and a Canadian 

attorney associated with Yonge, acquired ownership of a shell company in the British Virgin 

Islands.  The executive owned 47 percent of the shell company, while the other two parties 

shared the rest.  Peterson allegedly then told Morgan Stanley that this shell company was 

affiliated with Yonge, which the company believed.  Peterson thus circumvented the large 

amount of due diligence that Morgan Stanley had done on Yonge and its entities because the 

company had completed it prior to this transaction and did not know the shell company was not 

affiliated with Yonge.  Peterson and his colleagues allegedly obtained an interest in the project 

through the shell company, with the Chinese executive personally acquiring an investment that 

eventually grew to be worth almost $3 million.  Furthermore, Peterson was able to negotiate a 

discounted price for the purchase. 

In addition to this scheme, Peterson also allegedly concocted a plan for the Chinese 

executive to receive finder’s fees directly from Morgan Stanley.  The SEC’s Complaint stated 

that Peterson encouraged Morgan Stanley to allow the Chinese executive to buy an interest in 

real estate projects at a discount, which would act as a finder’s fee.  However, the company 

recognized the FCPA dangers of such an arrangement with a foreign official and did not go 

through with it.  Despite the fact that no payments were made, this is another example of the 

variety of payment mechanisms that can exist in the realm of the FCPA. 
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According to the allegations, Peterson’s scheme gave something of value to the Chinese 

executive in the form of a real estate interest that appreciated in value as well as a discounted 

price on the investment.  Additionally, Peterson allegedly made a direct payment of $700,000 to 

the executive by evading Morgan Stanley’s internal controls.  He also allegedly offered the 

Chinese executive opportunities to receive finder’s fees and personal investments directly from 

Morgan Stanley, although this never materialized.  Many bribery schemes are not as complex as 

Peterson’s, but financial services providers should be prepared for such situations.  In their 

FCPA compliance programs and audits, members of the financial services industry must keep in 

mind that giving “anything of value” to a foreign official can violate the FCPA.  There are many 

ways to violate the FCPA without a direct payment of cash, as Peterson’s scheme showed.  

Furthermore, these payments are often inaccurately recorded in books and records, and therefore 

would violate the FCPA’s books and records provisions as well.  

 Foreign Officials 

 A second lesson from the Morgan Stanley case deals with “foreign officials.”  Foreign 

officials are the prohibited bribe recipients under the FCPA, and the DOJ and SEC interpret this 

to mean any employee of a foreign government or any branch of it, including state-owned 

entities and local governments.  The foreign official in the Morgan Stanley case was an executive 

at a real estate corporation owned entirely by the Luwan District of Shanghai.  This state entity’s 

employees, therefore, are foreign officials.  Morgan Stanley’s compliance program recognized 

this, and the training that Peterson received instructed him on the application of the “foreign 

official” definition to China and its state-owned entities.  Even though he allegedly disregarded 

this training, this was one factor that the DOJ mentioned in the charges against Peterson that 

surely contributed to Morgan Stanley’s declination. 
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Other financial services providers should learn from Morgan Stanley’s case.  Not only 

does the application of “foreign official” have a wide reach into many types of government 

entities, but companies should also instruct their employees on these intricacies in FCPA 

training.  In order to do so, members of the financial services industry must first identify which 

“foreign officials” it interacts with in order to provide this training in an effective manner.  As 

seen in the Morgan Stanley case, the types of foreign officials will vary based on the country of 

business.  China has a large number of state-owned entities, while government ownership is not 

nearly as prevalent in many other countries.  

 Third Parties 

The use of third parties is problematic from an FCPA standpoint because companies can 

be held liable for the violations committed by their third parties.  This has already been apparent 

in financial services cases.  The SEC’s investigation of Brookfield Asset Management includes 

allegations that bribes were paid with money taken from overstated invoices provided by 

vendors.  Similarly, Barclays disclosed that the DOJ and SEC are specifically investigating its 

third parties.  It is apparent from these cases that this could be an area of concern for members of 

financial services industries.   

The Morgan Stanley case did not involve a third party who committed an FCPA 

violation, but third parties were involved in Peterson’s bribery scheme.  Peterson allegedly 

transferred $700,000 to the Chinese executive through a finder’s fee paid to an investor who had 

helped Morgan Stanley acquire a real estate project.  The investor and Peterson allegedly 

conspired to use Morgan Stanley’s money to provide Peterson with cash for himself and the 

Chinese executive.  Peterson allegedly evaded Morgan Stanley’s internal controls that were 

designed to prevent such payments. 
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Despite this fact, Morgan Stanley’s compliance program provides an excellent example 

of how a financial services provider can prevent third party liability and mitigate damage if an 

FCPA violation occurs.  As part of its reasoning for declining to bring charges against Morgan 

Stanley, the DOJ said that Morgan Stanley “conducted extensive due diligence on all new 

business partners and imposed stringent controls on payments made to business partners.”6  

Other members of the financial services industry can learn from this example and make it a top 

priority to conduct thorough due diligence on third parties and all payments made to them. 

 Conclusion  

 Because the financial services industry is facing more investigations than ever before, its 

members should be aware that the SEC and DOJ are watching closely for potential FCPA 

violations.  However, Morgan Stanley’s 2012 declination provides important lessons that can 

help members of the industry better comply with the FCPA.  Despite Peterson’s rogue behavior, 

Morgan Stanley had an effective training program in place and also used an extensive system of 

internal controls to prevent FCPA violations.  Financial services providers should follow this 

example in order to prevent FCPA violations and liability.  

There are additional FCPA lessons to be learned from the Morgan Stanley case.  First, 

financial services providers should be aware that there are numerous payment mechanisms that 

can violate the FCPA, and the direct payment of cash is not the only method of violating the law.  

Peterson’s alleged scheme showed the complexity and creativity of some bribes.  Second, a 

“foreign official” can be an employee of numerous government entities, including state-owned 

entities.  Compliance programs should reflect these intricacies, and members of this industry 

must know which foreign officials they interact with in order to train their employees.  Third, in 

                                                 
6 Press Release, Dep’t of Justice, Former Morgan Stanley Managing Director Pleads Guilty for Role in Evading 
Internal Controls Required by FCPA, (Apr. 25, 2012), available at http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/2012/April/12 
-crm-534.html. 
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order to prevent third-party liability, financial services providers should conduct thorough due 

diligence and implement internal controls to ensure that no payments are made that will violate 

the FCPA.  These measures can help members of the financial services industry comply with the 

FCPA and prevent liability for the behavior of a rogue employee. 
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